
   

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 

 
Date: Tuesday, 17 December 2019 
 
Time:  9.30 am 
 
Place: LB 31-32 - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 

 
Corporate Director for Strategy and Resources 
 
Governance Officer: Mark Leavesley   Direct Dial: 0115 876 4302 
 
 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
if you need advice on declaring an interest, please contact the 
Governance Officer above, if possible before the day of the meeting 
 

 

3  MINUTES  
Last meeting held 16 September 2019 (for confirmation) 
 

3 - 18 

4  CHILDREN IN CARE SERVICE PERFORMANCE: QUARTERS 1 AND 
2 2019/20  
Report of Director of Children’s Integrated Services 
 

19 - 22 

5  IMPROVING OUTCOMES FOR NOTTINGHAM CITY’S CHILDREN IN 
CARE – EMOTIONAL WELLBEING AND MENTAL HEALTH  
Report of Director of Children’s Integrated Services 
 

23 - 38 

6  HAVE YOUR SAY SURVEY 2018-19  
Report of Director of Children’s Integrated Services 
 

39 - 48 

7  CHILDREN IN CARE COUNCIL  
Verbal update by Engagement and Participation Lead Officer 
 

 

8  FORWARD PLAN / ADDITIONAL MEETING  
To note the forward plan and agree the date / time of an additional 
meeting of the Board if considered necessary 
 

49 - 50 

 

Public Document Pack



CITIZENS ATTENDING MEETINGS ARE ASKED TO ARRIVE AT LEAST 15 MINUTES 
BEFORE THE START OF THE MEETING TO BE ISSUED WITH VISITOR BADGES  

 
CITIZENS ARE ADVISED THAT MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY RECORD THIS 

MEETING. ANY RECORDING OR REPORTING ON THIS MEETING SHOULD TAKE 
PLACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL’S POLICY ON RECORDING AND 

REPORTING ON PUBLIC MEETINGS, WHICH IS AVAILABLE AT 
WWW.NOTTINGHAMCITY.GOV.UK. INDIVIDUALS INTENDING TO RECORD THE 

MEETING ARE ASKED TO NOTIFY THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE IN 
ADVANCE.



 

1 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL  
 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Loxley House, Station Street, on 16 September 
2019 from 2.31 pm - 5.02 pm 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Cheryl Barnard (Chair) 
Councillor Jay Hayes (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Phil Jackson 
Councillor Maria Joannou 
Councillor Neghat Khan 
Councillor Rebecca Langton 
Councillor Maria Watson 
Councillor Cate Woodward 

Councillor Nicola Heaton 
Councillor Georgia Power 
 

 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
Helen Blackman - Director of Children's Integrated Services 
Colin Brooks - Service Manager, Children in Care 
Clive Chambers - Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance 
B G )  
M-K G ) Children in Care Council representative 
C H ) 
Jon Rea - Engagement and Participation Lead Officer 
Sophie Russell - Head of Children's Strategy and Improvement 
Alison Wakefield - Service Manager, Children in Care 
Zena West - Governance Officer 
Jordan Whatman - Project Officer, Children in Care 
 
18  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor Georgia Power – work commitments 
Councillor Nicola Heaton – leave 
Matthew Jenkins 
Sophie Russell 
 
19  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None 
 
20  MINUTES 

 
The minutes were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
21  CORPORATE PARENTING 

 
Clive Chambers, Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance, gave a presentation 
on the statutory guidance surrounding corporate parenting responsibilities, distributed 
with the first publication of the minutes. 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Corporate Parenting Board - 16.09.19 

2 

 
Councillors and Children in Care Council members raised the following points during 
discussion of the presentation: 
 
(a) other departments within Nottingham City Council should be invited to future 

meetings in order to prioritise corporate parenting responsibilities for all 
departments; 

 
(b) early and ongoing mental health support for children in care is vital – they 

need help and support to overcome traumatic experiences; 
 
(c) the concerns and issues faced by care leavers are different to those of other 

young adults, and it is important to ensure that a safety net or emotional 
support in place. Care leavers require empathy, sympathy, practical support 
and advice, and a solid foundation of life skills and budgeting before they 
become care leavers; 

 
(d) funding is being sought for children in care to  help develop peer support 

groups. One of the outcomes  is train care leavers to become mentors for 
future care leavers. Mentors. Care leavers will also benefit from being 
mentored by older care leavers as part of this project; 

 
(e) the Board recognised that caseloads for front line social workers will impact on 

their capacity to provide children will a good level of support and in future 
would like to discuss this in more depth. The services monitor caseloads and 
this will remain a priority. The most important aspect of supporting children in 
care and care leavers is to listen to those children and young adults affected. 
Engagement with the Children in Care Council, open conversations, and 
feedback through Have Your Say all help to give a better picture of the needs 
of Children in Care and Care Leavers, in their own words; 

 
(f) Nottingham City Council works hard to meet the needs of Care Leavers but 

the impact of austerity means that there are challenges to this;  
 
(g) a presentation will come to a future meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board 

detailing the different accommodation types offered for Care Leavers; 
 
(h) young people highlighted that social opportunities and gatherings for Care 

Leavers may be useful, as well as for specific cohorts of Care Leavers such as 
young parents. Discussions have been ongoing to seek funding to support 
such groups in future; 

 
(i) one particular success which has had positive feedback from young people is 

the Safe Families pilot project, where volunteers mentor and befriend families 
and young people in the community; 

 
(k) a copy of the meeting schedule for future Children in Care Council meetings 

will be distributed with the first publication of the minutes, and Councillors are 
welcome to attend the Corporate Children in Care Council meeting. This will 
offer the opportunity for members to hear first hand from young people; 

 

Page 4



Corporate Parenting Board - 16.09.19 

3 

(l) representatives from the Children in Care Council expressed a desire to help 
Councillors understand the issues affecting Care Leavers, and for Councillors 
to help to change the narrative surrounding Children in Care. There is a 
tendency in wider society to portray them as individuals who may well have 
complex problems but they are not “problem children”; 

 
(m) over the last 6 years the council has done an enormous amount to try and 

invest differently in this system. This has included for example establishing a 
multi systemic therapy team, to try to prevent children coming into care in the 
first place, and have helped hundreds more families stay together. For those 
who come into care, the Council has moved from large homes to smaller 
homes, with increased options for children to stay in one place for longer; 

 
(n) a representative from the Children in Care Council noted that they felt review 

meetings at a child’s school were not appropriate, as it singled out children as 
being different, and impacted on their education and their social lives. They 
discussed ideas about how we could plan for these meetings differently. This 
will be raised with the Virtual School, schools and IROs; 

 
(o) Councillors and colleagues thanked the representatives from the Children in 

Care Council for attending the meeting and sharing their honest experiences. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(1) note the presentation; 
 
(2) thank the Children in Care Council for their contribution to discussions; 
 
(3) use the influence of the council to increase the range of support and 

opportunities made available to children in care and care leavers. 
 
22  CARE LEAVERS ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 

 
Alison Wakefield, Children’s Social Care Service Manager and Colin Brooks, Leaving 
Care Service Team Manager, presented the Care Leavers Annual Report 2018/19. 
The following points were raised in discussion: 
 
(a) PAs often work with traumatised young people who can present as being 

angry and upset rejecting services. However many can later use services 
when they feel more ready. As a result of knowing that some Care Leavers 
need more time and proactive attempts to engage them, a Keeping in Touch 
policy is in place that means that PAs will continue trying to keep in touch with 
young people, even if they have previously refused support; 

 
(b) a recent review of the local offer for Care Leavers indicates that Nottingham 

City Council compares favourably to other local authorities. Discussions are 
underway to evaluate the impact of extending the Council Tax exemption 
beyond the current limits; 

 
(c) colleagues regularly meet with young people, to look at the issues they raise, 

encouraging them to advocate for themselves and others. This is also an 

Page 5



Corporate Parenting Board - 16.09.19 

4 

opportunity for the Council to learn from their experiences in order to improve 
service delivery. 

 
RESOLVED to note the information. 
 
23  CHILDREN IN CARE COUNCIL 

 
Jon Rea, Engagement and Participation Lead Officer, gave a verbal update on the 
Children in Care Council, highlighting the following points: 
 
(a) many young people don’t wish to be involved with the formal setting of the 

Corporate Parenting Board, but Councillors are welcome to attend meetings of 
the Corporate Children in Care Council to hear directly from young people in a 
less formal setting; 

 
(b) the Children in Care Council has been involved in the Social Worker training 

programme, and have helped with recruitment of the Corporate Director for 
Children and Adults; 

 
(c) where possible, Councillors should look to offer shadowing opportunities to 

young people from the Children in Care Council, so they can understand 
Councillor’s roles and how the Council works; 

 
(d) an update on the results of the Have Your Say survey will be coming to the 

next meeting of Corporate Parenting Board, and may help to inform future 
agenda items. 

 
RESOLVED to note the update, and thank the representatives from the Children 
in Care Council for attending the meeting. 
 
24  IMPROVING OUTCOMES FOR NOTTINGHAM CITY’S CHILDREN IN CARE 

– EMOTIONAL WELLBEING AND MENTAL HEALTH 
 

This item was deferred to a future meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board. 
 
25  INDEPENDENT REVIEWING SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 

 
This item was deferred to a future meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board. 
 
26  FORWARD PLANNER 

 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(1) note the forward plan; 
 
(2) note that an item on IICSA (Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse) 

will come to the next meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board, 
following publication of the related action plan. 

 

Page 6



Corporate Parenting 

September 2019 

P
age 5

M
inute Item

 21

P
age 7



Applying corporate 
parenting principles to 
looked-after children and 
care leavers 
Statutory guidance for local authorities 

February 2018 

P
age 6

P
age 8



What is Corporate Parenting 

• The role that councils play in looking after children is one 
of the most important things they do. Local authorities 
have a unique responsibility to the children they look after 
and their care leavers

• A strong corporate parenting ethos means that everyone 
from the Chief Executive down to front line staff, as well as 
elected council members, are concerned about those 
children and care leavers as if they were their own. 

• This is evidenced by an embedded culture where council 
officers do all that is reasonably possible to ensure the 
council is the best ‘parent’ it can be to the child or young 
person

P
age 7

P
age 9



What functions does this apply 
to 
• All services have a role in providing these 

opportunities for looked-after children and care 
leavers.

• The areas where consideration of the corporate 
parenting principles are of most relevance are: 
education, social care, housing, libraries, leisure 
and recreation, strategic policies (such as 
health and well-being plans) and local tax 
collection

• The Duty to Cooperate 

P
age 8

P
age 10



Corporate Parenting Principles 
• to act in the best interests, and promote the 

physical and mental health and well-being, of 
those children and young people

• to encourage those children and young people 
to express their views, wishes and feelings

• to take into account the views, wishes and 
feelings of those children and young people

P
age 9

P
age 11



Corporate Parenting Principles 
(cont) 
• to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure 

the best outcomes, for those children and 
young people

• for those children and young people to be safe, 
and for stability in their home lives, relationships 
and education or work

• to prepare those children and young people for 
adulthood and independent living.

P
age 10

P
age 12



Corporate Parenting Principles 
(cont)
• to help those children and young people 

gain access to, and make the best use of, 
services provided by the local authority and 
its relevant partners

P
age 11

P
age 13



Findings from The 
Conference for Care 
Experienced People P

age 12
P

age 14



Top ten messages 

• We need more love in the care system, 
including displays of positive physical affection

• We want to be seen as individuals worthy of 
respect 

• Relationships are critically important 
• Instability and loss of continuity in our lives is 

made worse through pressure in the care 
system 

•

P
age 13

P
age 15



Top ten messages 

• Mental Health and wellbeing are our biggest 
worries 

• The impact of the care experience does not end 
at 18, 21 or even 25

• Our sense of who we are is important
• Having our say is essential 

P
age 14

P
age 16



Top ten messages 

• We need to know about our legal rights and 
entitlement

• Nobody knows more about what it means to be 
in care than we do

P
age 15

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 18



 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD – 17 DECEMBER 2019 
   

Title of paper: Children in Care Service performance: Quarters 1 / 2 2019/20 

 
Director: Helen Blackman – Director, Children’s 

Integrated Services 
 

Wards affected: 
All 

Report author and 
contact details: 
 

Clive Chambers – Head of Service, Children in Care 
Clive.chambers@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme: 

Nottingham People   

Living in Nottingham   

Growing Nottingham  

Respect for Nottingham   

Serving Nottingham Better  

 

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
 
The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with the most up to date Children in Care 
performance data. The report highlights results covering the first and second quarter of the 2019-20 
financial year. 
 

 

Recommendation: 

1 It is recommended that the Board acknowledge the current performance position of the 
Children in Care service and, where necessary, offer suggestions for remedial action in areas 
of poor performance and developmental suggestions in all other areas. 
 

 
1 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
1.1 As Corporate Parents, ensuring the best possible outcomes for our children is 

paramount. In order to establish how well we are supporting our children to achieve 
their full potential it is essential that the Corporate Parenting Board understand 
performance in regards to key indicators for children in care.   

 
2 BACKGROUND (INCLUDING OUTCOMES OF CONSULTATION) 
 
2.1 None. 
 
3 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED IN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 None. 
 
4 FINANCE COLLEAGUE COMMENTS  
 
4.1 None. 
 
5  LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT COLLEAGUE COMMENTS  
 
5.1  None. 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Clive.chambers@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

6 STRATEGIC ASSETS & PROPERTY COLLEAGUE COMMENTS 
 
6.1 None. 
 
7 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
7.1 An EIA is not required because the report contains no financial proposals or 

decisions.  
 
8 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS OTHER THAN PUBLISHED WORKS OR 

THOSE DISCLOSING CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 

8.1 None. 
 
9 PUBLISHED DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN COMPILING THIS REPORT 
 
9.1 None. 
 

Page 20



CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD – PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 

DECEMBER 2019 
 

PERFORMANCE INDCATORS 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with the most up to date performance overview in relation to Children in Care and to highlight results from April 2019 to September 2019. Performance commentaries have 
been provided by the Head of Service. 

 
Indicator Statistical 

Neighbour 
Average 

Target 
19/20 

Out-
turn 

18/19 

April  
19 

May 
19 

June
19 

Q1 Jul 
19 

Aug 
19 

Sept 
19 

Q2 YTD 

Service commentary 

Number of children 
in care (as at) (rate 
per 10,000) 

803 
(116.5) 

600 
(88.3)) 

 

618 
(92.1) 

621 
(91.4) 

 

619 
(91.1) 

 

618 
(91) 

 
  

622 
(91.6) 

625 
(92) 

623 
91.7 

  

The number is over target although our rate of children in care 
continues to be lower than statutory neighbours. This reflects the 
positive work done by services in ensuring that only those children 
whose needs cannot be met at home or by the extended family 
come into care.  
 

The number of 
children discharged 
as a result of a 
Permanent Outcome 
(SGO/Child 
Arrangement 
Order/Adoption 
Order) 

39  62 4 2 1 7 3 1 5 9 16 

The comparator figure is only those children who were adopted. 
There is no comparator data available for children leaving care due 
to SGO or CAO. In 2018/19 we had 49 children adopted. The 
position at Q2 is 12 young people adopted. The position regarding 
adoption in Q2 of 2018/19 was 13 adoptions.  
 
Adoption performance is now subject to ongoing scrutiny in monthly 
meetings chaired by the Director of Children’s Integrated Services.  
 
 

The percentage of 
Children in Care that 
have had three or 
more placement 
moves in the 
previous 12 months 

11% 
(2017) 

11% 10.2% 9.8% 10.8% 
10.8
% 

10.8% 10.6% 9.0% 
9.0
% 

9.0
% 

 

Performance has continued to be relatively stable and continues to 
be within target.  

The percentage of 
Children in Care who 
have lived in the 
same placement for 
at least 2 years 

69%  
(2018) 

74% 68.7% 67.8% 67.4% 
67.5
% 

67.5% 67.7% 64.7% 
68.5
% 

68.5
% 

 

Performance in this area is comparable to statistical neighbours but 
below target. Promoting placement stability has been identified as a 
key target for the Children in Care Service Area and no placement 
move will take place without this being agreed with the Service 
Manager. For children in internal fostering no placement change will 
be agreed without this being agreed with the Head of Service, unless 
the carers have given notice.  
 

The percentage of 
Children in Care 
reviewed within the 
appropriate 
timescale 

N/A 97% 95.9% 95.3% 88.4% 
91.8
% 

92.0% 93.4% 96.6% 
97.1
% 

95.4
% 

93.7
% 

There is no national comparator for this measure. Performance is 
currently below target by 3.3%. The primary factor for this is IRO 
sickness and absence. A plan to bring our performance to target by 
the end of the year is in place and is being monitored by the Head of 
Service and the Principal Manager for the IRO service.  
 

The percentage of 
reviews where the 
child participated 

N/A 90% 92.3% 92.2% 96.3% 
94.7
% 

94.4% 93.3% 94.1% 
93.1
% 

93.4
% 

93.9
% 

Performance is above target. 

P
age 21



Indicator Statistical 
Neighbour 
Average 

Target 
19/20 

Out-
turn 

18/19 

April  
19 

May 
19 

June
19 

Q1 Jul 
19 

Aug 
19 

Sept 
19 

Q2 YTD 

Service commentary 

The percentage of 
Children in Care with 
an up-to-date health 
assessment 

89.0%  
(OC2 

Cohort) 
Different 
to this 

measure 

90% 89.9% 91.1% 91.1% 
90.9
% 

  91.7% 92.9% 
89.5
% 

  

There is no direct comparator information available from other 
authorities. National reporting is focussed on a particular cohort of 
young people. Data from that return shows our performance at 
2018/19 year-end was 94%%. We have continued to work closely 
with fostering and residential providers (internally and externally) to 
improve these rates.   
 

The percentage of 
Children in Care with 
up-to-date dental 
checks 

85.6%  
(OC2 

Cohort) 
Different 
to this 

measure 

90% 87.9% 87.6% 87.8% 
88.6
% 

  87.3% 83.6% 
81.6
% 

  

There is no direct comparator information available from other 
authorities. National reporting is focussed on a particular cohort of 
young people. Data from that return shows our performance at year-
end was 93%. The most recent reported performance from other 
authorities was 85.6%. We have continued to work closely with 
fostering and residential providers (internally and externally) to 
improve these rates.  
 

The percentage of 
Children in Care with 
an up-to-date 
Strength and 
Difficulties 
Questionnaire (SDQ) 

71.8%  
 

90% 75.8% 78.0% 77.3% 
81.8
% 

  78.3% 82.9% 
84.8
% 

  

Performance is above that of national comparator authorities but 
below target. This will be the focus of further attention over the 
course of 2019/20.    

The percentage of 
applicable (Eligible, 
Relevant and 
Former relevant) 
young people with in 
Education, 
Employment or 
Training  

52% 55% 55.6%    52.3    
52.3
% 

52.6
% 

NB Comparator data is only available for young people aged 19 – 
21. Performance is in line with comparator authorities but below 
target.  
 
In October 2019 59.2% of young people were recorded as being 
EET on the Care Leavers Dashboard, which focuses on all young 
people open to the service. There are a range of circumstances that 
lead to young people being unable to engage in education, 
employment or training. Of the young people recorded as being 
NEET on our performance dashboard, approximately 25% are either 
pregnant or parents and approximately 19% have a disability that 
prevents them from being EET. 
 
To ensure there is robust oversight of the circumstances of young 
people who are NEET, monthly tracking meetings chaired by the 
Service Manager will take place from November 2019.  
 

The percentage of 
applicable (Eligible, 
Relevant and 
Former relevant) 
young people in 
suitable 
accommodation   

84% 85% 
89.2% 

 
   93.9%    

88.9
% 

89.4 
% 

Performance continues to be strong in this area. There are some 
children whose accommodation cannot be considered suitable who 
we are not able to change, e.g. those in custody. 

The percentage of 
placements that are 
over 20 miles from 
Nottingham 

N/A 85% 
84% 

(16/17
) 

   82.8%    
83.4
% 

 

Performance is slightly below target. A key factor in this is the 
availability of placements nationally. To address this challenge we 
have invested in both expanding our residential children’s homes 
provision and in-house fostering.  

 

 

P
age 22



CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD – 17 DECEMBER 2019       
   

Title of paper: Improving Outcomes for Nottingham City’s Children in Care – Emotional 
Wellbeing and Mental Health  
 

Director: Helen Blackman – Director, Children’s 
Integrated Services 

Wards affected: 
All 
 

Report author and 
contact details: 
 

Matthew Jenkins - Team Manager, CAMHS CLA 
Matthew.jenkins@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

Dr Pallab Majumder - Consultant Psychiatrist, CAMHS CLA 
Susan Spittal - Business Support Officer 
 

 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme: 

Nottingham People   

Living in Nottingham   

Growing Nottingham  

Respect for Nottingham   

Serving Nottingham Better  

 

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
 
Providing an update on the development and implementation of the Children Looked After Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health Service. 
 
Service aim:  
 
A jointly-funded multi-disciplinary service improving responses to the mental health and emotional 
well-being of the City’s children and young people who are in care, offering specialist assessment 
and intervention when needed, with a particular focus on promoting placement stability. 
 

 

Recommendation: 

 
1 

 
That the Corporate Parenting Board continue to support the development of a service for 
children and young people in care, resulting in a service that delivers effective, accessible, 
holistic evidence-based care.     
 

 
1 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
Progress is being made towards a service that delivers effective, accessible, holistic 
evidence-based care through:  
 

 The completion (and implementation from September 2019) of draft operational 
guidance for the service. This has been in principle agreed by the Director of 
Children’s Services; 
 

 An emphasis on developing clear pathways for children and young people referred 
for a service.  This has included strengthening care-planning through introducing 
formulation into the team.  This helps with a shared understanding of a child / young 
person’s difficulties developed at the outset to inform intervention (developing a 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Matthew.jenkins@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


psychosocial approach).  It is an expectation that formulation is now an outcome of 
any referral to the team.  Embedding the formulation concept within the team began 
in Autumn of 2018 and is continuing through 2019.  This has included working with 
the Integrated Workforce Development Team to explore with the team through 
Team Days how Signs of Safety can be adapted to support practice; 
 

 Continuing to develop the use of feedback including the use of outcome measures 
to support the monitoring and review of service delivery; 
 

 The development of a performance ‘dashboard’ so that there is a clear, regular 
analysis of the team’s performance to support planning and development; 

 

 Continuing to broaden and develop the skills, knowledge and experience of the 
multi-disciplinary staff team.  This year we have worked closely with Trust 
colleagues to successfully recruit an Art Psychotherapist, we are in the early stages 
of recruiting a CPN (Community Psychiatric Nurse) and we are partway through the 
recruitment process to fill x2 specialist social worker vacancies; 

 

 Targeted training and psychoeducation.  The Team are continuing to increase the 
amount of training offered to social workers, homes staff, carers and schools with 
the aim of building confidence and resilience in the networks around the children 
and young people we work with (increasing knowledge and skills in responding to 
the behavioural manifestation of developmental trauma); 

 

 Supporting networks to manage risk.  There has been an increased emphasis on 
working closely with professional networks to offer support with safety planning.  
The team work with a number of children and young people where self-harm / 
suicidal ideation are a concern, as well as other complex issues such as those 
related to eating.   

 

 To ensure this specialist, multi-disciplinary service delivers the maximum impact in 
improving the mental health and emotional well-being of children and young people 
in the City’s care.   

 

 That care is effective, accessible, holistic and evidence-based.  Children and young 
people have timely access to an integrated, high-quality multidisciplinary service, 
operated within budget.  

 

 Those constituting the wider support networks of the children and young people we 
work with have increased knowledge and skills, which give them the confidence and 
resilience in dealing with the presenting issues of emotional well-being and mental 
health difficulties.  Through this, it is hoped that stability can be improved for this 
complex and vulnerable group. 

 
2 BACKGROUND (INCLUDING OUTCOMES OF CONSULTATION) 
 
Performance Update: See appendix for detailed data  
 
The team is multi-disciplinary and includes a psychiatrist, clinical psychologist and 
psychotherapist who are employed by the Trust.  Nottingham City Clinical Commissioning 
Group undertook a Quality Visit in May 2018 and made a number of recommendations, 
which included: 
 

Page 24



 Strengthen relationships between the service and social work colleagues.  
Update: Within the City, the team has moved to sit within Children in Care and it is 
hoped that this will strengthen links with CIC, fostering and placements teams.  It is 
also hoped that in the autumn work will be undertaken to share the revised service 
offer with Children in Care colleagues.  It is also hoped that the training the team 
offers can be made more widely available.  
  

   Strengthen development of pathways with the Leaving Care Team. 
Update:  Work is continuing to improve transitions for children who need CAMHS 
but whose circumstances change and who can no longer receive a service from this 
team.   

 

    Review the current staffing model.  
Update: The vacant therapist post has been filled (the service now has a part-time 
art therapist who has recently begun working with 9 children).   Funding has been 
identified with the CCG to recruit to a vacant Community Psychiatric Nurse post and 
it is hoped that the Trust will be commencing the recruitment process in the next 
few weeks.  It is hoped that the vacant social work posts will be filled by the autumn 
(interviews are taking place on 02.09.19).   

 
We continue to receive very positive feedback about the service.  Most recently, this has 
included the following comment received as part of an email from a primary school head: 

 
I don’t usually write e mails like this but A stands out as a compassionate, 
professional member of the CAMHS team who has really made a difference to not 
only B but also to the all the staff at ….School and his foster carers. To work 
alongside another professional who genuinely cares about the wellbeing of children in 
need and will always go the extra mile is quite remarkable. Thank you. 

 
A young person who attended for a creative therapeutic intervention has made an ‘I love 
CAMHS’ banner which is now in the reception / waiting area.   

 
In July, the following general feedback was given to the clinical psychologist based within 
the team from the fostering service:  

 
I have just received some really positive feedback about the support you offer to a 
number of our foster carers. It has really made a significant difference for foster 
carers and in the children in care and has really supported placement stability. 
 

A CIC social worker emailed:  
 
I just wanted to take the time to give credit to B and say a big thank you through you 
for the hard work she has put in with regards to the above young person.  Prior to 
placing a formal referral to CAMHS, she has taken the time to offer me advice and 
most importantly support via telephone: even before the case was allocated.  I feel 
that B has gone beyond in relation to ensuring that I was supported and allowed me 
the opportunity to in a way, offload… I have looked forward to each consultation 
session …knowing that I am going to get answers to any questions, good advice and 
a correct analysis of the young person and why they may be feeling or acting in the 
manner they are... 
 

We acknowledge the need to develop urgently a performance ‘dashboard’ so that we 
capture the impact the team’s work is having consistently across the year.  Work is 
beginning with the Analysis and Insight Team to develop this.   Page 25



 
The specialist training we have offered to schools (based around ‘attachment friendly’ 
schools) has been positively received and we are running this again for another cohort of 
schools in the autumn.  The training was aimed at SENCos and other staff working directly 
with children in care.  Feedback showed an overall increase in skills and confidence and 
comments included ‘we have all learned so much’ and ‘make it compulsory for senior 
leadership teams’.  One participant commented: 
 

I found the course literally to be the best course I’ve ever been on… 
 

It appears that the schools that participated would like further opportunity to meet to 
discuss specific strategies and we will need to consider if and how this can be facilitated.   

 
Trust colleagues within the team have been undertaking an evaluation of our fostering and 
attachment group intervention for carers, which has now run for several cycles.  This is a 
10 week programme which can be attended by between 10 and 15 carers at a time, so this 
is can be a far more effective intervention than working with carers on an individual basis.  
The draft report shows that carers develop an improved understanding of children’s needs, 
increases confidence in managing difficult behavioural issues, reduces the stress carers 
feel and helps carers ‘connect’ better with children.     
 
In summary, in line with the revision of the service offer to strengthen delivery of services 
to children and their networks, priorities for the service over the next few months are: 
 

 Successfully recruit to remaining vacant posts; 

 Confirm service ‘offer’ and raise awareness with Children In Care colleagues; 

 Continue to embed ‘formulation’ as a process within the team; 

 Continued development of interventions including group and individual interventions 
with carers and with children. 

 
3 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED IN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 None.  
 
4 FINANCE COMMENTS 
 
4.1 None. 
 
5 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT COMMENTS 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6 STRATEGIC ASSETS & PROPERTY COMMENTS 
 
6.1 None  . 
 
7 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
7.1 An EIA is not required because this report does not contain proposals or financial 

decisions. 
  
8 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS OTHER THAN PUBLISHED WORKS OR 

THOSE DISCLOSING CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 Page 26



8.1 NCC Children’s Integrated Services Plan 2019/20. 
 
9 PUBLISHED DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN COMPILING THIS REPORT 
 
9.1 None. 
 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Correlated Statistics for CAMHS CLA for the year 

01.04.18 – 31.03.19 

Please be aware that the data below has been manually collated  

Table 1 – cases opening and closing 

 

 

 Opened Closed 

April 8 11 

May 15 4 

June 11 15 

July 12 2 

August 8 9 

September 4 15 

October 10 13 

November 31 4 

December 9 8 

January 8 3 

February 19 7 

March 6 2 

 
Totals 

 
141 

 
93 

 

We currently have involvement with 187 Children in Care Cases.  The break-down of this 

comprises: 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Chart Title 

Opening Closing Column1

Page 29



 170 allocated cases (across 6 City-employed staff).Some of the 170 allocated cases 

be nearing the end of an intervention and will be scheduled to close.    

 15 cases that have been allocated and are awaiting assessment with a confirmed 

date, 

 Two awaiting allocation.   

We provide a service to City CIC, living in the City.  

We are continuing to develop practice around strengthening transitions pathways.  These 

include where children are turning 18 and require interventions or services from Adult Mental 

Health Services (AMHS) or where we have been working with a child with needs that can no 

longer be met within the City and are therefore moving Out of Area.   

Knowing when to end our involvement remains a challenge.  We use the THRIVE model of 

care as the framework to provide our service.  Nottingham’s THRIVE model is underpinned 

by the THRIVE model of care (Wolpert et al 2016, CAMHS press, EBPU). Research by the 

CAMHS Research Outcome Consortium, designed to map need and provision for all young 

people in need of support for mental health and well-being or mental illness, identified 5 

groups of young people within services. These are described in the model as: 

1. Thriving 

2. Getting Advice 

3. Getting Help 

4. Getting More Help 

5. Getting Risk Support 

Many difficulties in young people referred to CAMHS CLA are potentially life-long issues 

stemming from early trauma and adverse life experiences.  However, if early assessment 

and intervention (which includes direct, systemic and indirect multi-agency interventions 

under supervision of specialists) can be provided, there is good research evidence to 

suggest that their life trajectory can be shifted in a more positive direction (  

Given current resource limitations, CAMHS CLA ultimately has to limit the duration of its 

involvement and care-planning ensures that the professional network have a clear 

understanding of desired and expected outcomes (using the THRIVE model), and are 

empowered to manage some of the difficulties themselves, reducing dependency.   

We acknowledge that looked after children, young people and their networks may need to 

use this service for additional support at different times and timely access back to the service 

is important (re-referral) 

We use a formulation approach to strengthen assessment, planning, intervention and 

review.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



Table 2 – Gender 

 

 

 

Consistent with previous years, the number of females we are working with remains 

smaller than the number of males.  This, we understand, reflects the make-up of the 

CIC population as a whole.   

  

Male (79) 
56% 

Female (62) 
44% 

GENDER BREAKDOWN 

Page 31



Table 3 – Ethnicity 

The team continues to work with a number of UASCs (Unaccompanied Asylum 

Seeking Children).  This year, we have made links with NEST (Nottingham 

Education Sanctuary Team) which is an education provision attended by some of the 

children we work with.  We have begun attending their Advisory Group; as a team 

we are hoping to think further in the coming months about our ‘offer’ in terms of 

better meeting the emotional well-being needs of UASCs referred to us, and 

collaborative planning and intervention with other agencies (eg. education provider) 

can be a clinically effective and economically efficient way forward to achieve this.   

 

Ethnicity/ Country of origin Percentage of referrals 

White British 55% 

Dual Heritage 21% 

Polish 5% 

Afghan 2% 

Kurdish 2% 

Black African 2% 

Iranian 1% 

Iraqi 1% 

Black Caribbean 1% 

Black British 1% 

Romanian 1% 

British Asian 1% 

Asian 1% 

Vietnamese 1% 

Bangladeshi 1% 

British Pakistani 1% 

Asian Pakistani 1% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 32



Table 4 - Age at point of referral 

 

 

Age at referral Number of referral 

0 – 5 21         (15%) 

6 – 10 34         (24%) 

11 - 15 62         (44%) 

16 - 18 24         (17%) 
 

There has been an increase in the number of referrals in the 11-15 age band. W we 

have not identified a clear reason for this, although we are aware that a number of 

children with complex presentations have moved back into the City in this age range 

from placements elsewhere.   

There have been slight decreases in the numbers of referrals made in the other age 

bands.   

We have also had several referrals made ‘late’ to the service where children have 

been very close to 18 years; this can present some additional difficulties in ensuring 

smooth transition to AMHS (Adult Mental Health Service).  This can be related to the 

age at which children come into care. 

Age 0 - 5 (21) 

Age 6 - 10 (34) 

Age 11 - 15 (62) 

Age 16 - 18 (24) 

AGE AT DATE OF REFERRAL 

Page 33



We continue to escalate through colleagues in Health those cases that become 

‘stuck’ in transition to AMHS.  There is a very clear process in place for this, but 

anecdotally, while the process appears to be embedding within wider CAMHS 

services, it is not always effective within AMHS.  This is being explored with the 

Trust.   

We are aware that there still need to be stronger links with the Leaving Care Service 

and this is another area for development over the next few months.   

Page 34



Table 5 – Primary reason for referral 

 

Reason  
Attachment 55         (39%) 

Trauma Response 49         (35%) 

Relationship Issues 8           (6%) 

Sexualised behaviour 6           (4%) 

Suicidal thoughts 5           (4%) 

Self - harm 5           (4%) 

Low self-esteem 5           (4%) 

Anxiety 4           (2%) 

Learning disability 2           (1%) 

Anger management 1           (Less than 1%) 

Bereavement 1           (Less than 1%) 

 

Consistent with previous years, the biggest reasons for referral remain ‘trauma’ and 

‘attachment difficulty’. The categories given will never fully represent the range of 

issues we work with as often the underlying difficulties will only become clear after 

assessment.  ‘Attachment difficulty’ and ‘trauma’ may also be used as a broad 

descriptor for other issues, for example, challenging behaviour, anger, low self-

esteem, depression, personality difficulty, bereavement, anxiety etc.   

Attachment difficulty 
(55) 

Trauma response (49) 

Relationship issues 
(8) 

Sexualised behaviour 
(6) 

Suicidal thoughts (5) 

Self - harm (5) 
Low self-esteem (5) 

Anxiety (4) Learning disability (2) 
Anger management 

(1) Bereavement (1) 

PRIMARY REASON FOR REFERRAL 

Page 35



 

Table 7 – Waiting time in weeks between referral and initial Choice 

Consultation. 

Waiting have times have increased in 2019 because we experienced a sharp rise in 

referrals at the end of 2018 and because there have been staff vacancies for which 

we have only recently been able to begin the recruitment process. We believe that 

the increase in referrals at the end of 2018 was as a result of two actions taken by 

the CIS Leadership Team. The Director sought assurance from the CiC Service that 

all abnormal SDQ scores had resulted in a referral to the CAMHS CLA team and a 

series of restorative audits were completed by the Head of Service (Children’s Duty 

and Targeted Services) and Acting Head of Service (Children in Care). To address 

capacity issues, interviews are taking place for 2 specialist social worker vacancies 

on 02.09.19.   

In the interim, we have responded to this by changing the process for screening 

referrals to ensure these are prioritised more effectively and offering additional 

assessments on a duty basis to ensure urgent referrals aren’t having to wait for long 

periods.    

We have also been continuing to focus on thinking ‘THRIVE’ in supervision and 

through formulation with practitioners and making sure involvement with cases ends 

in a timely manner.   

 

Month Time (in weeks) 

April 2018 3.18 

May 3.06 

June 4.23 

July 3.83 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Average time (in weeks) 

Series 1 Series 2 Series 3

Page 36



August 2.35 

September 4.75 

October 2.1 

November 4.19 

December 5.66 

January 5 

February 7.71 

March 2019 7.75 

 

  

Page 37



Table 8 – Supervision feedback 

We use the Leeds Alliance in Supervision Scale (LASS) with supervisees in 

supervision where supervisees are asked to scale their experience of each 

supervision session across three domains: approach; relationship and meeting my 

needs.  Scaling is out of 10 with 10 being ‘this supervision session was focussed’, 

‘my supervisor and I understood each other in this session’ and ‘this supervision 

session was helpful to me’.  The scores for each domain add up to a total possible 

score of 30.   

As can be seen from the scores below, for 8 months out of 12, the score has been 

on or above 27, and the lowest scores have been above 25.   

 

 

Month Average score for the month 

April 27.4 

May 25.3 

June 25.8 

July 27.8 

August 27.1 

September 27.7 

October 25.7 

November 25.4 

December 27 

January 27 

February 27.2 

March 27.6 

 

24

24.5

25

25.5

26

26.5

27

27.5

28

LASS average scores 

Page 38



CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD - 17 DECEMBER 2019 
   

Title of paper: Have Your Say Survey 2018-19 

 
Director: Helen Blackman – Director, Children’s 

Integrated Services 
 

Wards affected:     All 
 

Report author and 
contact details: 
 

Jon Rea - Engagement & Participation Lead, REC Team 
Jon.rea@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

Susan Heath - Principal Analyst, Strategic Insight & Analysis  

 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme: 

Nottingham People   

Living in Nottingham   

Growing Nottingham  

Respect for Nottingham   

Serving Nottingham Better  

 

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
 
Report on the findings of the Have Your Say survey 2018-19 including areas highlighted for further 
inquiry through the Children in Care Council; and details of the change in the way the survey is 
carried out, with recommendations for future iterations. 
 

 

Recommendations: 
 

1 That the Board notes: 
 

 the findings of the Have Your Say survey and supports its use in informing decision 
making by the Board and its partners; 
 

 and commends the participation of respondents in the survey and, in particular, the 
members of the Children in Care Council who helped with the assessment of survey 
results; 

 

 that the Board will work with the Children in Care Council to explore further the areas 
highlighted for further inquiry and co-creation; 

 

2 That the Board approves the move to a cost-neutral model of survey distribution, and supports 
efforts to improve take-up in survey response by encouraging greater participation across 
workforce, carers and care agencies and other relevant partners. 
 

 
1 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
1.1 The Have Your Say survey for Children in Care and Care Leavers provides an 

important platform for engagement with our corporately parented children and young 
people. The survey questions are based on the pledges in the Children in Care and 
Care Leavers’ Charter, and therefore give the Corporate Parenting Board feedback 
on user satisfaction against those pledges.  Page 39

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Jon.rea@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 
1.2 The survey is not a statutory requirement but it is regarded as one of the key ways in 

which the voice of the child is heard above and beyond statutory processes such as 
the Looked After Child reviews. As such it forms part of our evidence of participation 
for inspection and peer review processes. 

 
2 BACKGROUND (INCLUDING OUTCOMES OF CONSULTATION) 
 
2.1 The survey consists of a series of questions, in a mixture of tick box (quantitative) 

and open text (qualitative) answers. The feedback, whether quantitative or 
qualitative, is the respondent’s own subjective opinion: all answers given are 
perceptual rather than empirical. Accordingly, where figures and/or percentages 
indicate dissatisfaction with a service or process, they should not be regarded as a 
reliable analysis of service performance. Rather they indicate areas where children 
and young people have perceived that things are not as good as they could be for 
them, or have not personally had a satisfying experience. This provides a useful 
steer for the Board to engage further with its corporately parented children and young 
people, to discover what needs to be improved and co-create solutions to challenges. 
 

2.2 With regard to the process of distributing, collecting, collating and analysing the 
survey, this year we departed from the established process of mailing out individual 
surveys and instead initiated a new process where surveys were handed out to 
respondents via social care workers. This change was driven by two factors: firstly 
the need to find a way of achieving a cost-neutral process; and secondly, the 
objective of involving social care workers more closely in the survey, by giving them a 
key role in handing out and collecting the survey from those they work with. 

 

2.3    Survey Purpose and Structure 
 

The questionnaire is based upon the Nottingham City Children in Care & Care 
Leavers’ Charter in order to establish how children in care and care leavers perceive 
their ‘Corporate Parent’ is delivering against the charter priorities.  This year, analysis 
of survey responses has been produced under four headings to reflect the focus of 
the charter. 

 

 Respect For You 

 Your Development 

 Your Voice 

 Your Future 
 
2.3.1 Survey Distribution 
 

In 2018-2019, the arrangements for distributing, completing and collecting the 
Children in Care and Care Leavers survey changed from a paper and postal format 
to an electronic format.  The questionnaire was created as an online ‘SNAP’ survey, 
with the option of a printed version if required. The link to the questionnaire was 
distributed by email to social workers, independent review officers, carers and 
residential home managers. Replacing the previous postal survey with the new 
distribution method has saved approximately £1,000 by eliminating the costs 
associated with professional printing, postage and pre-paid return envelopes 

 
A number of other Local Authorities use an electronic survey; with some councils 
contracting a third sector company to assist with the survey planning and analysis. 
To minimise costs, we design, administer and analyse the survey in-house.   Page 40



 
2.3.2  Survey Response Rate 
  

The survey was available for distribution to all 620 Children in Care (CiC).  In 
addition, Care Leavers (CL), were offered the opportunity to complete the survey 
when they visited the Leaving Care Team.  The survey ran from 1st June to 13th 
September 2019 

 
• In total, 86 completed responses were returned to the Children’s Integrated 

Services team (20 completed online, 66 via printed copy).  
 

This is a response rate of 13.9%; a decrease from the previous year when the 
response rate was 18.5%. This reduction is likely to be a direct result of the change 
in distribution method.  It is expected that participation in the survey will increase 
significantly next year. Publically available results for the other local authorities 
using electronic distribution1, suggest that the return rate increases significantly 
from the second year of running the survey electronically.   Return rates between 
21%-44% and an overall average return rate of 35% have been achieved by other 
authorities1. 

 
The content of all forms returned was checked for safe-guarding purposes by the 
Children’s Social Care team. 

 
2.3.3   Response Rate and Demographic Breakdown 
 

• Questionnaires were distributed to the social workers, independent review 
officers or residential home managers of 620 Children in Care (CiC) and Care 
Leavers (CL). The questionnaire was also made available to Care Leavers who 
visited the Leaving Care Team during the survey period  

 
• An easy read version was offered to children aged 3-7 and the full version to 

Children in Care ages 8+ and Care Leavers.  In total, 86 completed surveys 
were received, achieving a 14% response rate, compared with the previous 
year’s response rate of 19%.  Almost 80% of respondents to the survey were 
aged over 12 years and only 10%  of respondents were aged under 11 years 
(the remaining 10% of responses were on behalf of a child in care or care leaver 
(age not specified) or the age category question was left blank.  This is a similar 
age profile to 2017. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• This year a greater number of responses than usual were returned 
anonymously.  In addition, only 24% of respondents opted to specify their year 
of age and 35% specified gender.  It is therefore not possible to establish 
whether the responses received are representative of the full cohort of children 
in care and care leavers in terms of age, gender and ethnicity. In previous years, 
demographic data has been made available by using a reference number to 
analyse the response rate by demographic attributes for equality purposes.  The 

Age Categories  Responses % of All Responses 

A child in care (11 or under) 9 10% 

A child in care (aged 12 - 18) 39 45% 

A care leaver (aged 18 and over) 29 34% 

On behalf of a child in care or a care leaver  8 9% 

(blank) 2 2% 

Total 86 100% 

Page 41



reference number was not issued with the survey this year but will be considered 
again next year.   

 
2.3.4 Changes to Analysis and Reporting 
 

In 2018-19 there were no changes made to the survey questions used in the 
previous year.  In previous reports, a traffic light system (Red, Amber and Green) 
has been used to mark each commitment and identify things that work well, things 
that need to improve and areas where significant problems have been raised. The 
RAG ratings were based on initial data analysis and confirmed after discussion with 
members of the CIC & CL council. 

 
This year, we have made more use of the rich qualitative data captured by the 
survey. Every qualitative comment made on the survey was checked for relevancy 
to the question asked, then categorised as ‘broadly positive’, broadly negative’ or 
neutral.  By nature, qualitative data can be sensitive so any names mentioned were 
removed, as was any other content likely to identify the individual.   

 
The comments were reviewed with the CIC and CL members who discussed 
whether the issues raised were likely to be experienced by significant numbers of 
other young people in care. The responses have been grouped into four areas:  

  
A. Respect for You 
Respect and Time (from social workers, personal advisors and carers) 

 
B. Your Development 
Placement, Healthy Living, Education, Change, Family and Friendships 

 
C. Your Voice 
Support with Problems, Planning and Communication 

 
D. Your Future  
Skills, Preparing to Leave Care 

 
This means that analysis of question responses may not follow in question number 
order in the report, although question numbers have been retained to aid cross-
referencing with material contained in the Appendix. 

 
2.3.5  Summary of findings 
 

A. Respect for you  
   

Respect: 
The majority of respondents to this question (91%) feel they are respected by their 
social worker or personal advisor ‘All’ or ‘Most of the Time’ this is similar to the 
response in 2017).  Similarly, 94% of respondents feel they are respected by their 
carer ‘All’ or ‘Most of the Time’.  This is a small reduction from 2017. 

 
Time: 
83% of respondents feel their social worker or personal advisor has enough time for 
them. This shows an increase in relation to the 2017 survey and has risen by 12 
percentage points over the last two years. 

Page 42



The proportion of children and young people responding to the survey who feel their 
carer(s) have enough time for them ‘All’ or ‘Most of the Time’ has fallen slightly to 
92% (from 96% in 2017).   
 
Be Happy: 
Overall, 75% of respondents are ‘Very Happy’ or ‘Happy’ with the way Nottingham 
City Council takes care of them. This is a slight decrease in comparison with 2017, 
but an overall drop of 7 percentage points since 2016. 

 
CIC & CL Council View: It is important for social workers to be available and value 
their relationship with the young person. Plans should be agreed, tasks done on 
time and promises kept. Carers need to be consistently available. Confidentiality is 
important. 

 
B. Your Development 

 
Your Placement: 
Most respondents to this question in 2019 feel their placement is right for them 
(77%).  However, satisfaction with placement has decreased since 2017 (83%) and 
is more similar to satisfaction levels in 2016. Comments made in the survey showed 
a variety of reasons why a young person might not be happy in placement; 
sometimes to do with missing family rather than the placement itself.   Distance 
from support was also mentioned. 
 
Feeling Safe: 
93% of survey respondents answered these questions.  Of those responding; 93% 
felt safest at home and 94% of people said they felt safe at school/FE College/Work 
(both similar to previous years).  Just 87% of respondents felt safe in their 
neighbourhood (a decline from the previous year and a similar level to 2016).  
Comments made in the survey about feeling safer included; knowing how to cope 
with people who seem threatening or unfamiliar and feeling unsafe in a care home 
when new people arrived and ‘lashed out’.  Feeling unsafe on journeys home in 
winter after school was mentioned at the CIC & CL council. 

 
CIC & CL Council View: Feeling unsafe on journeys home in winter after school can 
be a problem for CiC. 

 
Worry: 
19% of the people who answered this question felt worried ‘All’ or ‘Most of the Time’ 
which was broadly similar to 2017 (16%).  The most common worries specified were 
family or anxiety related.  Worries caused by a lack of documentation or asylum 
claims and bills/benefits/childcare were also mentioned, perhaps representing a 
greater proportion of older respondents and care leavers in this year’s survey.  
Coping mechanisms included music, sport talking to friends, relaxation techniques 
or avoiding conflict 

 
Health and Free Time: 
Almost 93 % of respondents to this question said they felt healthy ‘All of the Time’ or 
‘Often’; a similar level to 2017.  Only 55% of survey respondents told us how they 
found out about staying healthy.  This response was free text and some sources 
were grouped together for analysis.  The most common source of knowledge 
(mentioned by 27%) was through ‘School, Life-Skills Training or Carers’, followed by 
‘Health Care Professionals’ (19%).  ‘Online/TV/Magazines’ and ‘Friends and Family’ 
were mentioned by 10% or less of the group. Page 43



 
72% of survey respondents told us how they spend their free time.  The most 
popular choices were Physical Activity (45% of respondents); spending time with 
Friends or Family (35%) and Screen Based Activities (34%).  Activities some people 
wanted to take up included gymnastics, acting, kick-boxing, ice-skating and 
gardening.  Anxiety was mentioned as a potential block to participation; as was 
withdrawal of funding which stopped a young person participating in a higher level 
sports team. 

 
Education: 
The proportion of respondents who felt they were doing ‘Well ‘or ‘Very Well’ in 
Education in 2019 fell significantly this year, after good progress in 2017.  However 
the proportion of respondents who said they did ‘not attend School /FE/Work’ has 
also risen, possibly indicating a higher proportion of care leavers among the survey 
respondents this year.   
 
70% of 2019 survey respondents told us about their PEP.  A significantly greater 
proportion ‘Knew about their PEP’ and/or were ‘Involved with their PEP‘ than in 
2017 and broadly the same proportion were ‘Happy with their PEP’ as in 2017. 
 
This year there has been a small increase in the proportion of respondents who feel 
they ‘Would do better with more help’, but still a decrease overall compared to 2016.  
24% of survey respondents went on to tell us more about their PEP; 11 comments 
were positive about PEP and 8 comments had a negative focus. 

 
 

Change: 
The proportion of responses indicating a change of Social Worker (46%) or School 
(18%) has fallen significantly in comparison to 2017; when they were 57% and 37% 
respectively. 
 
Changes to Home have risen slightly (47%, from 40% in 2017).  Changes for Carer 
(27%) and those reporting ‘no change’ (19%) are very similar to last year. 
Some young people will experience more than one of these changes. 
 
24% of survey respondents commented on what helped them cope with change, 12 
comments made were positive and 7 negative. 76% of respondents reported that 
the help they had been offered to cope with change was ‘Very Good’ or ‘Good’.  
This is a small improvement from 2017 and from 70% in 2016. 

 
CIC & CL Council View: 
Continuity of relationships and the chance for early input to any potential changes 
were valued. 

 
Family and Friendships: 
The question about seeing your own family had one of the highest response rates in 
the survey (95% of respondents). 
 
The proportion of CIC and CL seeing their families either ‘As Much as I Like’ or 
‘Quite Often’ is similar to 2017.  Twenty five respondents added comments about 
getting in touch with their birth family; including comments about ‘not wanting 
contact at the moment’ or the social worker trying to maintain contact but the birth 
parent ‘not trying’.  This highlights the complexity of the issue. 
 Page 44



98% of respondents answered questions about keeping in touch with friends.  
The majority of respondents still do not ‘See or speak to old friends’ or ‘Go to old 
friend’s houses to visit’, but the proportion of those that do (42% and 21% 
respectively), has risen slightly since 2017. 
  
The greatest change was a drop in the percentage of respondents who have made 
new friends since leaving care; from 68% in 2017 to 35% in 2019. 
   
CIC & CL Council View: The CIC & CL Council acknowledged that keeping in touch 
was difficult; social media was mentioned but not the same as physically seeing a 
friend.  One council member said they ‘didn’t really have friends before coming into 
care but that they have since made friends through school’. 

 

C. Your Voice 
 

Raising Problems: 
After improvement in 2017, the percentage of CIC & CL who ‘Know where to go 
with a problem or complaint’ has been maintained at 92% and the proportion of 
young people who know someone else to speak to other than their social worker or 
personal advisor is similar to last year.  
 
The proportion who feel their opinions are ‘Heard and Make a Difference’ (‘All’ or 
‘Most of the Time’) has remained steady for the last three surveys. 
 
Keeping in Contact: 
Approximately half of the survey respondents said they would like to receive 
information about how well Nottingham City Council is looking after children and 
young people in care.    
 
Text was the most popular option selected for keeping in touch (37%; up from 25% 
in 2017), followed by Telephone (32%; up from 17% in 2017).  The popularity of 
Newsletter as a communication method has dropped from 58% in 2017 to 32%.  
Facebook and Website were the least popular methods for hearing from us. 
 
Getting Involved: 
15% of respondents (13 young people), said they were interested in getting involved 
in the Children in Care Council and having a say about care issues. 

 
D. Your Future  

 

Planning Your Future: 
93% of respondents (80 people) told us how they were supported in planning for 
their future.  Most were ‘Happy or Very Happy’ but the small percentage of 
respondents who were ‘Unhappy or Very Unhappy’ has almost doubled since 2017. 
Only those who were ‘Unhappy or Very Unhappy’ added free text to this section of 
the survey.  One young person commented that they were worried because they 
were nearly 18 and anticipated being ‘thrown out’.  Another felt only their mum 
helped them and another that the ‘city council didn’t help but the care home did’.  

 
CIC & CL Council View: CIC & CL Council gave a more varied response on this 
topic.  They discussed better experiences with planning for the future and used the 
issue of ‘happiness’ as a springboard for some of the suggestions contained in the 
summary. 
 
 Page 45



Life Skills: 
99% of respondents answered one or more questions in this group.  The proportion 
of people who ‘would like help’ with any skill has decreased since 2017 and general 
appreciation for life skills training came through in the survey comments. 
More than 75% of respondents said they could either clean, iron, wash clothes, iron 
clothes, cook for themselves or budget their money, leaving approximately 25% 
who needed help with one or more household skill. 
 
Approximately 50% of respondents said they ‘would like help’ with CV, interview or 
job skills and 42% ‘would like help’ with being a responsible tenant.  
 
CIC & CL Council View: The CIC and CL Council added that help in building 
household skills into a routine would be useful and that more assistance is needed 
to apply for jobs. 

 
Pathway Plan: 
Only care leavers or young people over the age of 15 were invited to respond to 
questions on the Pathway Plan.  
 
In 2017, a slightly greater percentage of respondents (43%), knew what was in their 
Pathway Plan than in 2017.   However, the percentage of question respondents 
who said they did not know they had a pathway plan rose from 17% in 2017 to 26% 
in 2019.  
 
Comments made about the Pathway Plan were mainly positive; ‘because it’s like a 
guide to me moving on in life’.  One person commented ‘I wasn’t told Pathway Plan 
is for me.  I thought it’s for professionals, it isn’t very young person friendly, layout 
needs changing. 

 
2.3.6  Children in Care Council recommendations 
 

 Following their assessment of the 2018-19 Have Your Say survey, the Children in 
Care Council have identified three areas that they want to focus on in their 
forthcoming Corporate Children in Care Council meetings and co-creation work 
with the Corporate Parenting Board: 

 
a) Changing the culture of care, so that it provides more familial and loving living 

environments, language and all-round support for children and young people in 
care. Spreading the responsibility for being corporate parents to more agencies 
and partners, so that everyone plays their part in helping our CiC and Care 
Leavers do well in life. 
 

b) Improving opportunities for CiC and Care Leavers to prepare for independent 
living and successful adulthood, through greater support and access to 
services that help improve their life skills, academic attainment and 
experiences of work; and develop their social confidence, positive friendships 
and supportive networks. 
 

c) Older CiC and Care Leavers supporting the Have Your Say survey as peer 
interviewers to encourage more CiC and CL to share their views, experiences 
and ideas for change. More opportunities for care experienced young people to 
be involved in training of social workers and foster carers, and participate in 
recruitment processes for Children’s Social Care staff. 

 Page 46



3 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED IN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Value for money and creating a sustainable, cost-neutral model for the survey. 
  
 
4 FINANCE COLLEAGUE COMMENTS  
 
4.1 None. 
 
5  LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT COLLEAGUE COMMENTS 
 
5.1  None 
 
6 STRATEGIC ASSETS & PROPERTY COLLEAGUE COMMENTS  
 
6.1 None 
 
7 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
7.1 An EIA is not required because the Have Your Say survey is available to all Children 

in Care over the age of three and tracked Care Leavers equitably, and improvement 
actions carried out as a result of the survey findings are done on behalf of the whole 
cohort. 

 
8 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS OTHER THAN PUBLISHED WORKS OR 

THOSE DISCLOSING CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 

8.1 None 
 
9 PUBLISHED DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN COMPILING THIS REPORT 
 
9.1 Children in Care & Care Leavers Charter, CiC & CL Have Your Say survey 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD – FORWARD PLAN 2019-20 

Report  
(Corresponding Strategic Priority Statement) 

 

Report Lead Draft 
reports 

due 

Pre-
meeting 

Final 
reports 

due  

Meeting 

 
 IICSA 
 Fostering and Adoption Panel Chairs Update  
 Physical Health    (to be confirmed) 
 Adoption and Permanency 
 Educational Attainment of Children in Care  
 Children in Care Council (verbal update) 
 Forward Planner 
 

 
 Catherine Underwood 
 Audrey Taylor 
 Kathryn Higgins 
 Audrey Taylor 
 Jasmin Howell 
 Jon Rea 
 Cllr Barnard 

30/12/19 06/01/20 09/01/20 20/01/20 

 
 Edge of Care Provision 
 Reducing Offending Behaviour 
 Children in Care and Care Leavers Strategy Review 
 Children in Care Council (verbal update) 
 Forward Planner 
 

 
 Tracey Nurse / Mark Ball 
 Sam Flint / Natalie Pink 
 Clive Chambers 
 Jon Rea 
 Cllr Barnard 

17/02/20 24/02/20 04/03/20 16/03/20 

Additional meeting – date to be confirmed 
 

 Independent Reviewing Officer Service Annual Report 
 Advocacy Annual Report 
 Independent Visitor Annual Report 
 Complaints Service Report 

 

 
 

 John Matravers  
 Children’s Society 
 SOVA 
 Patrick Skeete 

 

TBC TBC TBC TBC 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	21 Corporate Parenting

	4 Children in Care Service performance: Quarters 1 and 2 2019/20
	Appendix 1: CIC Performance Report Q1 / Q2 19 / 20

	5 Improving outcomes for Nottingham City’s Children in Care – Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health
	Appendix 1: Correlated Statistics for CAMHS CLA for the year 01.04.18 – 31.03.19

	6 Have Your Say Survey 2018-19
	8 Forward plan / additional meeting

